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Introduction
This note has been prepared as an aid for new students of business, economics and finance, and is merely intended as a guide to the websites that the author has personally found useful. There are three main organising principles. The first is that only largely free sites are considered. This is the reason for excluding many of the screen services employed in the City of London, for example. However, people with financial-market interests can access the market leader Bloomberg, for free, through www.bloomberg.co.uk – there is also much useful and near instantaneous economic information covering almost the entire world here - and Reuters through www.reuters.co.uk, while the British Broadcasting Corporation’s news services can be accessed through www.bbc.co.uk. The second organising principle is that every attempt has been made to keep the note to a manageable size. In addition, the sites have been divided into categories in order to help people rapidly find the sites of prime interest (see: ‘Contents’ on page 2).
Many sites are multi-purpose and some may be more useful as a portal than for their content. Central bank sites, for example, typically contain statistical material that is compiled by the central bank concerned, speeches on current economic matters, academic discussion papers, and allow the user to link through to other central bank sites. The latter then often connect to the national statistical organisation and other sites in the country concerned. This means that it is possible to put together information on countries that are not well documented elsewhere. The final principle that has been employed is not to cover party political websites or blogs. However, people can access the major UK political parties through the Institute for Fiscal Studies site and blogs through the various think tanks cited later. Information is provided on Parliamentary sites, however, because these can throw up material of economic interest. It is also worth noting that not all websites are free of spin-doctoring and political bias. This means that caveat emptor applies to arguments and ‘facts’ that appear thereon.
The main body of this guide lists firstly, the name of the institution concerned; second, its website address; and, finally, some brief comments, including some of the other sites that can be accessed that are not covered elsewhere. Where specific documents are cited, these are worth reading if you are interested in the subject, but should also be regarded as a ‘treasure trail’ designed to test whether you can find your way around the site concerned. The hotel-inspired rating system is designed from the external user’s viewpoint and makes no allowance for the relative resources available to site proprietors. Four stars denote the best sites. A star is subtracted if the site is not predominantly free, does not contain material of high intellectual quality, is not primarily of economic interest, or is cumbersome to negotiate. One star means that the site primarily covers other issues but contains some information of interest. It does not imply that the site is not a good one for its intended purpose. 
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Central Bank and International Organisation Websites
These are generally the most useful sites in a ‘globalised’ world economy, and the working and discussion papers produced by central banks are an excellent way of keeping in touch with intellectual developments in economics, as well as current events. Most central bank discussion papers also include extensive lists of references for people who wish to delve further into a particular area, as well as being a first rate source for papers on applied econometric modelling, which is increasingly becoming concentrated in the central banking area. 
The Bank for International Settlement (www.bis.org)
Rating: ****
The Bank for International Settlements (BIS) was established after the 1914-18 War as the central bankers’ central bank, and operates from Basle in Switzerland. It has an extremely clear website with the usual central bank mix of news reports, statistical information and working papers. The latter are often worth reading because of the BIS’s international perspective, the quality of its in-house staff, and because the BIS can call on top economists from almost anywhere in the world as contributors (for example, see: BIS Working Paper no 189 Beyond Current Policy Frameworks, by Charles A E Goodhart, November 2005 or Globalisation and Inflation: New Cross-country Evidence on the Global Determinants of Domestic Inflation, by Claudio Borio and Andrew Filardo, BIS Working Paper No 227, May 2007). However, one of the BIS site’s most important features is that it is possible to link through the BIS site to the websites of most of the other central banks in the world (use Central Bank Hub at the top of the home page). This means that, if one had to choose just one site from which to monitor the entire world economy, this would be it. These sites are listed alphabetically, and are normally available in English, in addition to the national tongue of the country concerned. It is for this reason that we are not covering the central banks of individual European countries, or such important nations as China, India or Japan, in detail here. 
However, it is worth noting that interesting economic research can be found in the working or discussion papers of smaller central banks. The Reserve Bank of New Zealand (www.rbnz.govt.nz), whose monetary arrangements inspired current British practice, is probably the star here, but the Reserve Bank of Australia (www.rba.gov.au), the Bank of Canada (www.bankofcanada.ca), and Central Bank and Financial Services Authority of Ireland (www.centralbank.ie) all publish research papers which are probably more relevant to Britain’s small and open economy than the writings of central banks representing large semi-closed Continental economies. Usually there is a header entitled Publications and Research, or something similar, on the home page that allows one to get at central bank discussion papers fairly rapidly. Random browsing can often prove very fruitful intellectually. In addition, those of you who end up working for commercial organisations will find that you will have to produce information on sometimes rather obscure economies at very short notice. The BIS website is usually one of the best places to start.
The Bank of England (www.bankofengland.co.uk)
Rating: ****
This is the most important site for anyone with more parochially British interests. The Bank site incorporates the famous Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) minutes and Inflation Report. A webcast of the quarterly Inflation Report press conference can be downloaded and makes fascinating viewing for people interested in monetary economics, especially the question and answer session at the end when financial journalists cross question the Governor. The monthly Bank of England Statistics report (Bankstats) is only printed quarterly but is updated monthly on the site (click on statistics and then Statistical Releases). In addition, there is a well-designed inter-active database giving access to back series of the data compiled by the Bank. It is quickest if one knows the four letter codes, which appear on the top of Bankstats, but there are good search facilities. Typing ‘break-adjusted’, for example, will produce a list of codes for the unpublished consistently defined money supply and credit aggregates maintained by the Bank. 
Clicking on the Publications button on the home page gives access to a range of written material produced by the Bank, such as the Quarterly Bulletin. However, less formal written material can be obtained by going through the Monetary Policy portal, including the Bank’s Working Papers and the External MPC papers that are produced by the economists who support the outside members of the MPC (for example, Insiders versus Outsiders in Monetary Policy-Making by Timothy Besley, Neil Meads and Paolo Surico, Discussion Paper No. 20, December 2007).
Strongly recommended ‘hidden gems’ can be found in the Centre for Central Bank Studies (CCBS) Handbooks and Lectures (use the Quick Links button on the home page). These contain excellent, clear accounts of a wide range of issues, for example, Paper No.3 Economic Analysis in Central Banks: Models Versus Judgement, by Lionel Price or No 22 Unit Root Testing to Help Model Building by Mahadeva and Robinson. This material is usually more readable than the Bank’s Working Papers, where the writing style can sometimes be classed as ‘academic obscure’.
Like many of its counterparts, The Bank’s website has expanded over the years. This has meant that it has become harder to find specific items of interest, and some perseverance may be required as a result. One example is that to find links to a wide variety of statistical sites and the Debt Management Office (www.dmo.gov.uk) it is now necessary to click on Statistics on the home page, then Statistical Releases, and then Statistics Area of the Bank, before it is possible to find the Links to Other Statistical Sites in the left-hand side bar of the screen. 
The European Central Bank (www.ecb.int)
Rating: ****
This is an excellent site with the option to employ any of the languages used on the Continent, in addition to English. All the important ECB information is here, including the ECB Monthly Bulletin, official press conferences, statistical releases and key speeches. There is also a useful calendar of events and a Publications button that allows one to access a wide range of ECB material. Clicking on Economic Research on the left side of the ECB’s home page gives access to the Working Papers series. These contain high-quality analyses, ranging from work on individual Euro-zone countries to more general issues (examples include: Hendry and Clements Economic Forecasting: Some Lessons from Recent Research, ECB Working Paper No.82, October 2001, which has devastating implications for the relevance of economic theory to practical forecasting; Alfonso, Schuknecht and Tanzi Public Sector Efficiency: An International Comparison, ECB Working Paper No 242, July 2003, which examines the efficiency with which different countries provide government services: or The Great Moderation in the United Kingdom, by Luca Benati, ECB Working Paper No.769, June 2007,which controversially argues that the improved UK inflation performance of recent years mainly reflects the absence of demand-side shocks rather than better institutional arrangements). The ECB organises international conferences and the papers presented there are a good way of seeing what is happening at the cutting edge of global academic research. To access this material, press on the Events button near the top of the ECB home page and then on Past Conferences and Seminars. Anyone with an interest in monetary policy would learn a lot from the proceedings of the 4th ECB Central Banking Conference The Role of Money: Money and Monetary Policy in the 21st Century, for example. The ECB is also a useful data source and it is possible to access all the EU central banks by clicking on the Links to EU Central Banks button. In addition, the ECB site is a portal to the BIS, IMF and OECD, and the website of the European Commission, although this is not an easy site to find your way around (www.europa.eu.int). 
International Journal of Central Banking (www.ijcb.org) 
Rating: ***
The International Journal of Central Banking (IJCB) is an initiative of the world’s central banking community, which is published quarterly and can currently be accessed without charge. The journal features articles on central bank theory and practice, with a special emphasis on research, and features many well-known academic and central bank economists.  The December 2007 edition contains articles on: whether Euro-zone prices really rose after the Euro cash changeover; the inflation experience of Germany and Japan in the 1970s and subsequently; inflation based forecasting rules; and the use of forecasting models to improve macroeconomic analysis at central banks; among others, for example. Back editions can also be accessed, although the archive is limited because this is a relatively new endeavour.
The US Federal Reserve (www.federalreserve.gov)
Rating: ****
This is yet another example of a first-rate central bank website. It is here that one finds the Federal Open Market Committee (FOMC) interest rate announcements that have a massive impact on the financial markets, and much else besides. The site has recently been re-designed and has a menu bar running across the top. Hitting the About the Fed button on the left gives detailed institutional information about the structure and responsibilities of the US Federal Reserve and a list of related websites. The latter include USA.Gov –Government Made Easy, which is a portal to a wide range of official US sites, and the US Department of the Treasury, which is responsible for US fiscal policy. This allows one to access the official projections for the US Federal Budget, for example.
The Economic Research and Data button (also on the top menu bar) allows access to the Fed’s statistical releases and historical data bank and also its Working Papers. The Federal Reserve working papers are an excellent source of high-quality economic material and are strongly recommended to anyone with a serious interest in the US economy, and monetary policy more generally. For example, Modelling Inflation Dynamics: A Critical Review of Recent Research by Jeremy Rudd and Karl Whelan (Working Paper 2005 no 66) does an excellent job of demolishing some of the more overblown claims of the New Keynesian Phillips Curve school of US economists. Clicking on Working Papers also gives access to the National Bureau of Economic Research (www.nber.org), the Social Science Research Network and, in theory, the Working Papers in Economics (WoPEc) sites. The independent NBER is one of the best-known economics institutions in the US and is most famous for the fact that it sets the dates for US business cycle peaks and troughs. It does, however, apparently levy a charge of US$5 for access to each of its working papers.
The WoPEc link on the Fed’s website is, in fact, a by no means unprecedented example of a non-functioning obsolete link. The site has recently been renamed Econ Papers: Economics at Your Fingertips and now has to be addressed directly through www.econpapers.repec.org/. In theory, this site has everything that any economist could ever need, but not all the papers are available without charge, although there is much free material here, including that of the regional Federal Reserve banks, such as the St Louis Fed, and the working papers of many of the world’s top universities arranged alphabetically. From the Cardiff (UK) site, for example, it is possible to download Violence Related Injury and the Price of Beer in England and Wales, by Matthews, Shepard, and Sivarajasinham (Cardiff Economic Working Paper No E2006/3, January 2006), which argues that an effective way to control drink induced violence is to put up the price of alcohol. 
The International Monetary Fund (www.imf.org)
Rating: ****
The IMF website is available in a wide range of global languages in addition to English. It has a very useful First Time Visitors button on the left hand side of its home page (see: Highlights) that explains the role of the IMF and also how to find your way around the site (this is something that could be usefully replicated elsewhere). The IMF’s role as the world’s banker means that Country Information is available on just about any nation in the world, including the more obscure less developed countries not covered elsewhere: these can be accessed using an alphabetical country listing. Hitting the Publications button on the home page allows one to access Country Reports – these can be very useful if you are trying to gain information on less well documented economies - the IMF’s World Economic Outlook and Staff Papers, and also IMF Working Papers (a recent example would be Tax Cuts and Tax Compliance – The Laffer Curve Revisited, by Tamas K Papp and Elod Takats, IMF Working Paper WP/08/7, January 2008, which deals with tax evasion in Russia). The working papers often contain first-rate academic research which frequently covers issues not widely discussed elsewhere. There is a helpful ‘search facility’ that allows one to home in on particular countries, issues or authors. Overall, this is a rich and worthwhile site for economists with global interests. It is worth spending time on in order to find out just what is available.
The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (www.oecd.org)
Rating: ***
Like the IMF, the OECD produces regular economic forecasts, country reports and internationally orientated research on a wide range of topics, including health and education, where its international perspective is particularly useful in an area which tends to generate more political heat than rational enlightenment. The OECD also maintains major databases covering the thirty member countries, and also some non-members. The site can be accessed in French as well as English. There is so much information here that it is possible to obtain data on just about any topic if one spends enough time on the site. There is a helpful What’s New button and it is possible to Browse by Topic, for example the effects of ageing populations. There is also a Statistical Sources button on the menu on the right hand side which links to a Worldwide Statistical Sources option. This provides access to a wide range of other statistical sites, including some of the more exotic ones, as well as individual countries arranged alphabetically. The OECD’s Working Papers can be accessed by clicking on the Publications button. They contain a mixture of analysis for particular nations and studies of a particular issue across a wide range of countries, some of which may be relevant, others not. However, it is not difficult to skim the titles of a large number of papers and only look at the few that appear to be of interest. It is possible to download the useful summary tables from the OECD’s monthly Main Economic Indicators report by clicking Statistics in the box on the Left Side of the OECD home page, to arrive in the Statistics Portal, and then scrolling to Monthly Economic Indicators and clicking Country Comparison Tables.
Statistical and Government Sources
The central bank and other international sites described in the previous section all allow access to a wide range of statistical sources, and this section covers the main official sites not run by central banks.
Department for Work and Pensions (www.dwp.gov.uk) 
Rating: **
The Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) is mainly concerned with the administration of the social security system, and much of its site will be of limited interest, although the numerical information on benefit claimants may be of interest. However, the DWP is also carrying out research into the areas of its responsibility, and has produced some very interesting and technically sophisticated Working Papers; for example, The Impact of Free Movement of Workers from Central Europe on the UK Labour Market, by Gilpin, Henty, Lemos, Portes and Bullen (Working Paper No 29, February 2006), which, using detailed microeconomic data, found that there was no discernible link between UK joblessness and the number of Eastern European migrants. Unfortunately, these papers are rather tucked away. They can be reached by scrolling to the bottom of the DWP home page, clicking on Statistics and Research and then on Research and Research Publications in the left-hand side bar.
HM Treasury (www.hm-treasury.gov.uk)
Rating: ***
This is the website of HM Treasury, the department of government responsible for formulating and putting into effect the British government’s fiscal and economic policy. The annual Budget Statement and Pre-Budget Report, as well as much other HM Treasury documentation, can all be downloaded from the HM Treasury site. Clicking on Directgov on the home page provides access to an extensive range of other government sites. However, most would be of peripheral interest to economists and some of the ‘nanny-state’ material transcends satire. The Economic Data & Tools button gives access to the regular HM Treasury monthly survey of independent economic forecasts and a lot of other interesting information broken down by topic. The Pocket Data Bank, for example, provides reasonably good back runs of annual and higher frequency data for a wide range of UK and international statistics. However, there does not appear to be any downloadable information on HM Treasury working papers or their forecasting model, although HM Treasury officials seem happy to make the Treasury model manual available on request. The FOI Disclosures button allows access to information released under the Freedom of Information Act. This material can be politically enlightening although much of it is too detailed or dated to prove of general interest.
Office for National Statistics (www.statistics.gov.uk)
Rating: ***
This, together with the Bank of England website, is probably one of the two most useful sites for UK economists. The Office for National Statistics (ONS) produces almost all of the UK official statistics, other than the monetary and financial data compiled by the Bank of England, and also presents a rich wealth of demographic and ‘micro’ data on the UK economy. It is possible to download Brief Guides to the ONS figures, which are helpful for people trying to understand how the retail price index is put together, for example, and how it differs from the producer price numbers. However, the area most likely to be useful to economists is: Latest Releases, which allows one to access all the ONS press releases covering key economic indicators such as the retail and consumer price indices, industrial production, national accounts etc. 
Clicking on Time Series Data allows people to access, free-of-charge, the ONS data bank of more than 40,000 time series from major ONS economic and socio-economic releases, back to the early post-war years in some cases.  It is not the most user friendly database around, however, because it was originally designed around the hard copy publication of the data concerned, and it is normal to have to ‘drill down’ through several layers of printed table equivalents to get at a particular series. 
UK Parliament (www.parliament.uk)
Rating: **
This is the website of the ‘Mother of Parliaments’. The Commons Library produces a useful monthly Economic Indicators Research Paper, when Parliament is in session, which is both thorough and lacking in any obvious bias. Clicking on Commons Home Page, then Select Committees and hitting the PQRST button will locate the Treasury Committee’s home page. The Treasury Committee Reports often contain evidence from the Chancellor and senior Treasury and Bank officials and can prove gripping when such people – or the unfortunate management of the Northern Rock Bank, for example - are being cross-questioned. The Treasury Committee’s 18th September 2007 report on The Monetary Policy Committee of the Bank of England: Ten Years On provides a very clear account of the pros and cons of the current UK arrangements, and should be read by all students of UK monetary policy.
There is an equivalent House of Lords Economic Affairs committee (so click on ‘E’ not ‘T’) that occasionally does interesting work, such as their 12 December 2006 paper The Current State of Monetary Policy. Serious politics junkies – or those with an interest in British political history - might like to know that the Prime Ministerial website can be found on www.number-10.gov.uk. This also provides a portal to other UK official sites.
The US White House/Council of Economic Advisers (www.whitehouse.gov/cea)
Rating: ***
This gives access to the Council of Economic Advisers and its well-known reports on the US economy. It is possible to go from this site to those of just about any other US Federal Government organisation, including the home page of the President of the United States. The Presidential site incorporates a Kids Only button (www.whitehouse.gov/kids/ofelia), which allows one to make contact with the President’s Scottish Terriers Barney and Miss Beazley, together with the late Ofelia the cow. It is mildly disconcerting to witness such whimsy on the website of the world’s most militarily powerful nation. However, it is even more bizarre that the Central Intelligence Agency’s website (www.cia.gov) also has a section for kids. The CIA’s World Fact Book is, however, an invaluable free compilation of detailed information that cannot easily be put together from other sources. It can be accessed by clicking under Quick Links on the left hand of the CIA home page.
Think Tanks
Adam Smith Institute (www.adamsmith.org)
Rating: **
Named after the founding father of modern economics, the Adam Smith Institute (ASI) is erecting a statue of the author of the Wealth of Nations in Edinburgh. The site contains links to a number of – frequently, highly amusing if provocative - libertarian blogs, but there are also clear articles on important economic issues such as flat-rate taxes. The ASI is particularly famous for its calculation of the so-called ‘Tax Freedom Day’, when the average citizen stops working for the state for nothing and starts personally benefiting from his or her efforts in the workplace. This can be found by clicking on the Issues button on the top bar of the ASI’s home page. The Institute also puts out a fortnightly E-mail, for which you can sign up on line. Among the other material that can be downloaded without charge, Dr Eamonn Butler’s book Hayek: His Contribution to the Political and Economic Thought of Our Time provides a clear introduction to the work of one of the two or three greatest economic thinkers of the past century.
Centre for Policy Studies (www.cps.org.uk)
Rating: **
The Centre for Policy Studies (CPS) was founded by the late Sir Keith Joseph and Margaret Thatcher in 1974. The CPS sees its main role as championing economic liberalism, although much of the CPS site is concerned with wider social and political issues, rather than economics in isolation. The same is true of many other think tanks, which is why they do not get more stars in a guide to economics websites. However, the CPS has significant expertise with respect to fiscal and tax policies, and it is easy to find worthwhile papers on the site, such as Patrick Minford’s An Agenda for Tax Reform. The Historic Catalogue link allows one to access older publications, and there is a specific Economic Papers category to speed up the search. A recent spin off from the Centre for Policy studies is the relatively new think tank Global Vision (www.global-vision.net). This is a non-partisan think tank which believes that Britain should negotiate a looser and more modern relationship with the European Union (EU). It is very user friendly. However, only a proportion of its material is of direct interest to economists, and most space is devoted to Britain’s relationship with the EU.
Economic Research Council (www.ercouncil.org)
Rating: **
The Economic Research Council was founded in 1943 as the Joint Council for Economic and Monetary Research, although its origins go back at least a decade earlier to the 1930s. It is possible to download a wide range of papers including some written by well known economists (for example, Playing with Monetary Fire, by Tim Congdon, Research Paper No 24, December 2007) from the ERC site (hard copies cost £10). There is a tendency to specialise on monetary economics and energy issues. However, a wide range of topics have been covered recently including education, defence and the popular music industry. Economic historians might like to know that the ERC has its entire archive accessible on line, including papers dating back to 1939. 
David H Smith Website (www.economicsuk.com)
Rating: ***
David Henry Smith is the Economics Editor of the Sunday Times newspaper and is not related to the author of this note, David Brian Smith. The site’s contents are well chosen, and include not only David H Smith’s own past articles, but also interesting papers from academic and other sources, including the monthly e-mail poll of the Shadow Monetary Policy Committee carried out by the Institute of Economic Affairs (see below) in conjunction with the Sunday Times. The site contains a range of useful links, including one to the Royal Economic Society (www.res.org.uk). One good feature of the site is that it tends to be updated intra-daily whenever an important news story breaks, so that it has some of the properties of a continually updated on-line newspaper. Further, details and/or analyses can then often be picked up from Bloomberg and the other news sites covered on the first page.
The Institute of Economic Affairs (www.iea.org.uk)
Rating: ***
The Institute of Economic Affairs (IEA) is the UK’s original free-market think tank and was founded in 1955. The site has an online shop, which allows one to purchase IEA publications, but it is also possible to download large amounts of material free of charge, including the minutes of the Shadow Monetary Policy Committee which was established in 1997 as an IEA initiative. The IEA’s material is usually of a high intellectual standard and clearly written by the standards of contemporary economics. It is also of intellectual interest because of the degree to which the IEA is prepared to push its analysis into areas where other economists normally fear to tread. The IEA organises a large number of meetings, and it is possible to find out more by clicking on Events. The issues bar on the left side of the IEA home page allows one to rapidly home in on areas of particular interest. The IEA website is also a brilliant portal, with links to a wide range of international academic, official, and independent sites. Brief accounts of the sites concerned are also available. Just browsing the sites concerned can be a very fruitful intellectual activity.
The Institute for Fiscal Studies (www.ifs.org.uk )
Rating: ****
The Institute for Fiscal Studies (IFS) is an independent research organisation best known for its expertise in the microeconomics of taxation and its Green Budget reports, which are available on the site. There is a mass of interesting information here, and the IFS is particularly strong on modelling microeconomic behaviour. Its tax calculations tend to be predominantly static ones, however, and we would have strong reservations about their macroeconomic advice as a consequence. This is because its Green Budget calculations treat the economic outlook as exogenous to the tax burden, and implicitly assume that the government is in the position of a monopolist facing a perfectly inelastic demand curve. None of this detracts from the quality of the IFS’s microeconomic analysis, however, and many people will find their Surveys of the UK tax and benefit systems extremely helpful guides to these administratively complex areas. The IFS also has useful Links to Related Sites on its homepage. These allow access to the sites of all the main UK political parties and some minor ones, a wide range of general economics sites, and also more specialised sites such as econometrics. 
The National Institute of Economic and Social Research (www.niesr.ac.uk)
Rating: ****
The National Institute of Economic and Social Research (NIESR) is probably Britain’s oldest think tank: it was founded just before the Second World War. The NIESR runs its own macroeconomic model and its Discussion Papers, links to the latest of which appear on the home page, cover a wide range of subjects including education and generational accounting, as well as modelling and macroeconomics (older papers can be accessed by hitting the Publications tab). The NIESR site is probably one of the best independent sources of serious-minded high-quality research in Britain today. The NIESR also has an unusually wide set of links to both official statistical sites across Europe, other sites of interest, and links to a wide range of academic sites. Unfortunately, some of the links on the NIESR site do not seem to be functioning at the time of writing, presumably because of its recent rapid development, but there is certainly enough there to justify a good browsing session. 
Open Europe (www.openeurope.org.uk) 
Rating: **
Open Europe is a think tank set up by leading business people in 2005 to contribute new thinking about the direction of the EU. Its pan-European focus makes for interesting analyses, such as its 29 March 2006 monograph Beyond the European Social Model, which can be downloaded by clicking on Research and then Economic Reform. There is an extensive range of links with a special emphasis on Continental contributors that can be accessed by clicking on Media Centre on the home page, followed by Press Summary Archives. Open Europe sends out a useful free daily e-mail that summarises the main political and economic news items from Continental Europe, as well as the UK, and arrives around mid-day in Britain. This can be signed up for on line.
Politeia (www.politeia.co.uk)
Rating: **
Politeia is concerned with a wide range of issues, including constitutional reform and how to improve public services, such as education and the police (there is an Areas of Interest box on the left side of the home page).  However, it has also brought many prominent Continental European economists, to London, including the famous Vito Tanzi and Ludger Schuknecht, the authors of Public Spending in the 20th Century: A Global Perspective (Cambridge University Press 2000). This means that Politeia is far less parochial, in a little England sense, than some of the other London based think tanks. Earlier printed pamphlets have to be paid for, usually the cost is £5 or so. However, Politeia is now mounting its more recent material on its website where it can be downloaded for free (for example, Taxing Matters: Moving the UK from Predator State to Global Economy, by Deepak Lal). The Politeia site is an excellent portal and gives access to over twenty British, US, and Continental think tanks. There are links to what is alleged to be former Prime Minister Tony Blair’s alleged favourite think tank, the left-wing Institute of Public Policy Research (www.ippr.org.uk), and also to the seriously right-wing US Heritage foundation (www.heritage.org). This means that the Politeia site is a good starting place for anyone who wants to explore the wide range of views that can be found in the, occasionally whacky, world of think tank opinion. 
Reform (www.reform.co.uk) 
Rating: **
Reform is an independent, non-party, think tank founded in 2001. Reform’s expertise lies in its detailed work on individual spending programmes, such as health, where it has done truly pioneering work. There is an Issues bar on the right hand side of the home page which is sub-divided into the categories: Health, Education, Crime, Transport, Economy, Party Watch (this is not up-and-running at present), Real Reform, and Reform Around the World. The latter is very interesting for people who want to do a comparative analysis of how education or health provision, for example, are tackled in other countries (the domestic UK political debate is horrendously parochial and ill-informed on these issues). Reform puts out a useful and free daily e-mail that summarises the daily political, economic and public spending news items. This can be signed up for on line.  Reform also sends out regular e-mail bulletins analysing the latest developments in public policy.  These are also free and can likewise be signed up for on line.
The TaxPayers’ Alliance (www.taxpayersalliance.com) 
Rating: **
The UK TaxPayers’ Alliance (TPA) was founded in 2004 and shows how much can be achieved by a small group of dynamic young people in a short period of time. The alliance is best known for the TPA’s Bumper Book of Government Waste and Useless Spending that, arguably, stimulated the establishment of both the government’s Gershon Review into public sector waste, and the Conservative opposition’s rival James Review before the 2005 general election. The TPA site contains an Economics 101 section, which is itself broken down into categories, such as Corporate Tax, Dynamic Modelling etc. Clicking on Flat Tax brings up Allister Heath’s absolutely brilliant Flat Tax: Towards a British Model (hard copies can be obtained for £10). This represents the best account of flat-rate taxation available on either side of the Atlantic. People with a wider interest in tax policy might also like to access the US Tax foundation (www.taxfoundation.org) and the US Centre for Freedom and Prosperity (www.freedomandprosperity.org) to witness an interestingly gung-ho attitude to these issues. 
Society of Business Economists (www.sbe.co.uk)
Rating: **
The Society of Business Economists (SBE) does what it says on the tin and is the quasi-professional body that represents the community of UK business economists. The Society organises regular monthly meetings and an annual Economics Conference – both of which are held in central London - and publishes its own journal The Business Economist. It also provides an excellent networking opportunity for those young economists starting on their careers, who can get to central London, and its membership – which costs £75 a year for full-time members and £35 for students - has provided a remarkably high proportion of recent external members of the MPC. The site is currently being substantially upgraded and it is difficult to review it fairly at present, as a result. There are a number of useful links to other sites, including the US National Association of Business Economist (NABE) and its Canadian equivalent. In addition, there is a daily updated feed of economic news. This appears to be mainly sourced from the Financial Times. 
Business Organisations and Surveys

There exist a huge number of trade associations and similar which maintain websites in the world today. This list is confined to bodies whose output is either followed in the financial markets or is of wider economic significance.
British Retail Consortium (www.brc.org.uk)
Rating: *
The British Retail Consortium (BRC) represents UK shopkeepers. Its main interest to economists is the monthly Shop Price Index (SPI) and the BRC-KPMG Retail Sales Monitor, both of which are followed in the financial markets and can be downloaded from the site.
Confederation of British Industry (www.cbi.org.uk)
Rating: **
The Confederation of British Industry (CBI) is the main employers’ organisation in Britain. Its website contains some useful economic comment (click on Policy Mini-sites on the left hand tool bar, and then on Economics) while the CBI’s business surveys are the longest established such data in the UK. Unfortunately, one has to subscribe to access the survey data, but there is quite a lot of descriptive information on the site. There is a phenomenally long list of links, including trade associations and environmental lobbies, as well as the more obvious government departments. This means that the CBI site might be worth checking out as a portal for the more unusual enquiries.
The US Conference Board (www.conferenceboard.org )
Rating: ***
The US Conference Board was founded in 1916 and has a rich and interesting site. The Conference Board site covers global economic matters, not just the US, and provides a lot of material on business cycle indicators and international comparisons of productivity. It is possible to download a wide range of research reports, although many of these have to be paid for. However, by clicking on Economics, and then Economic Research, one arrives at the Public Access Data section of the site. This contains two elements. The first is an Excel spreadsheet containing long runs of annual data back to 1950 for up to 124 countries and indicators of economic structure and performance. The source appears to be Professor Angus Maddisson’s data set, which has also been published in book form by the OECD. The second element that can be found here is a series of working papers, such as Persistent Business Cycles and High Economic Growth: How to Explain Their Long Concurrence in Modern Capitalism? by Victor Zarnowitz, published in November 2007 – this seems especially topical with the US hovering on the verge of a recession at the time of writing - or Europe’s Productivity Gap: Catching Up or Getting Stuck? by Bart van Ark published in November 2005. The Conference Board working papers tend to concentrate on business cycle analysis and global productivity – China is getting a lot of coverage in the more recent papers - and often have a significant international dimension.
German IFO Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung (www.ifo.de)
Rating: ***
The Munich-based IFO Institute for Economic Research is famous for its wide range of business surveys – which are taken very seriously by the financial markets and international policy makers - and works in co-operation with the Centre for Economic Studies of the University of Munich. The site is available in English as well as German. The surveys are international in scope and long historic runs are provided in chart form. It is possible to access a wide range of research papers in English, although a minority are only available in German. The ‘dice’ emblem on the home page takes one into an extensive base of international data, DICE, which could be of interest to many people. This is a really interesting site to explore for those who want a break from purely Anglo-Saxon economics, and are interested in developments in Eastern Europe and other major German trading partners, as well as in Germany itself. The standard of analysis is extremely high throughout.
Academic Sites
Most academic journals can only be downloaded by existing subscribers – this is largely because of their production costs - so that there appears to be little free information available from this source. However, suggestions as to how this section can be expanded in future will be gratefully received.
University of Cambridge (www.econ.cam.ac.uk)
Rating: ****
A very rich site, as one would expect from such a wealthy and well-established university. Some material is restricted to faculty and those in statu pupillari. However, it is possible to download a wide range of discussion papers (a recent example is, Identification of New Keynesian Phillips Curves from a Global Perspective by Stephane Dees, M. Hashem Pesaran, L. Venessa Smith and Ron P. Smith, January 2008, Cambridge Working Papers in economics, No 0803, 3rd January 2008) and there are links to numerous other sites. There is also a useful Guide to Economic Resources on the Internet available (click on www links on the home page) that can be used to extend the information provided in this note. The Centre for International Macroeconomics and Finance (CIMF) was established in November 2005, and is now producing papers on modelling the world economy, which are of significant interest. The Judge Business School (www.jbs.cam.ac.uk) maintains a separate site but also produces interesting working papers in finance and economics as well as business pure and simple. Unfortunately, the more recent papers do not appear to be downloadable, although material up to and including much of 2007 does seem to be.

London School of Economics (www.lse.ac.uk)
Rating: **
The London School of Economics has a high academic reputation, but much of its site is restricted to students and staff, making it of limited interest to outsiders. It also has a very Balkanised structure, with each department or centre very much setting its own rules. Nevertheless, it is still possible to access some discussion papers by hitting the All Departments button under Quick Links on the left-hand side of the home page. Clicking on the Centre for Economic Performance, for example, allows one to access Can Pay Regulation Kill? Panel Data Evidence on the Effects of Labour Markets on Hospital Performance by Emma Hall, Carol Propper and John Van Reenan, CEP Discussion Paper No 843, January 2008. This argues that centralised wage bargaining in the National Health Service leads to under-resourcing in the more expensive areas, such as London, and causes many avoidable deaths as a consequence – in other words, a real political hot potato. 
University of Oxford (www.econ.ox.ac.uk )
Rating: ****
This is an excellent site. Indeed, it seems even better than its Cambridge rival’s equivalent, because it is easier to navigate (there is a direct link to Research on the left side of the home page, for example). Clicking on Working Papers gives access to the most recent examples from the research centre concerned, while clicking on the group’s title – for example, Department of Economics – brings up a full list of earlier papers. This makes it extremely easy to home in on areas of particular interest. A particularly enjoyable paper is Cities, Market Integration and Going to Sea: Stunting and the Standard of Living in Early Nineteenth Century England and Wales by Jane Humphries and Tim Leunig, Oxford Discussion Paper in Economic and Social History, No 66, March 2007, which uses 1840s Admiralty Sailors’ tickets to examine the extent to which being born in a Victorian city or engaging in child labour led to stunted physical development. It is possible to access the world-class econometric research of Professor Hendry and his colleagues through the site of Nuffield College (www.nuff.ox.ac.uk/economics/papers). This has an External Links button that accesses the economics sites of a wide range of prestigious US, as well as British, Universities, including Berkley, Chicago, Harvard, the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Princeton, San Diego, and Yale. 
University of Warwick (www.warwick.ac.uk/fac/soc/economics )
Rating: ***
This site gives access to the Warwick Economic Research Papers Series, or TWERPS. These cover a wide range of economic subjects but appear to be especially strong on: firstly, ‘political economy’ (for example, How Much Control is Enough? Monitoring and Enforcement under Stalin, by Andrei Markevich, No 829, 7th December 2007): and, second, ‘happiness’ studies. An interesting example of the latter is How Does Marriage Affect Physical and Psychological Health? A Survey of the Longitudinal Evidence by Wilson and Oswald (No 728, May 2005). This paper concluded that there are a whole series of identifiable gains from marriage and that these could have a value equivalent to US$100,000 a year.
Ray C. Fair Website (http://fairmodel.econ.yale.edu). 
Rating:***
Professor Fair teaches Macroeconomic Theory, Econometrics, and Macroeconomic modelling at Yale University in the US. This is close to being a ‘four-star’ site for anyone who enjoys an elegant exposition of the dismal science or has an interest in applied econometrics, predicting the outcome of US Presidential elections and the statistical analysis of sporting performance. It would certainly get four stars if this note were produced for a US rather than a British audience.  The outstanding feature of the site is that one can access Professor Fair’s models of the US and global economies and run them on line. Professor Fair has also been amazingly generous in the material that can be downloaded from his site, which includes software and publications that one would normally have to pay substantial sums for. There is also an amusing vignette on the role of an economics textbook in the novel The Great Gatsby.
“And, Finally…”
For several decades, there was a tradition on Independent Television News (ITN) programmes that, following a long and sombre recital of factual items, news bulletins would finish with a more light-hearted piece. This usually involved a member of the British Royal Family, and was inevitably preceded with the words “and, finally”. In a similar spirit, people who have had enough of the gloomy science of economics might like to take a break with: 
The Official Web Site of the British Monarchy (www.royal.gov.uk)
Readers will be left to explore this site, which is actually very attractively put together, themselves. However, the Queen Victoria tea pot available from www.the-royal-collection.com (click on the Queen Victoria Range) looks a real snip for all aspirant social climbers at a mere £60, while Aberdonians may find the Buckingham Palace hard soap, at only £5.95, makes an economical birthday or Christmas present for the very special ladies in their lives (click on Bathroom Accessories). 
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